STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL JAY FINLEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002480

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the circuit court erred in finding that Appellant's parole eligibility after the service of thirty years incarceration rendered him ineligible for resentencing, where the principles of Graham, Miller, and Aiken are more broadly applicable to de facto life without parole sentences that do not provide a *meaningful* opportunity for release?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 9, 1990, Appellant Michael Finley was arrested in connection with the May 6, 1990 death of James Brockman. R. 51. On January 22, 1991, the solicitor filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. R. 65. On February 25, 1992, the Greenville County Grand Jury returned indictments against Michael for murder, first degree burglary, armed robbery, and first degree arson. R. 57.

On February 25, 1993, Michael appeared before the Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr. and entered guilty pleas to the indicted offenses. Michael was represented by Jeffrey Merriam of Carter, Smith, Merriam, Tapp, Rogers & Traxler and by John Mauldin, and the State was represented by former Solicitor Joseph Watson. R. 68. At a deferred sentencing hearing held on April 22, 1993, Judge Pyle sentenced Michael to life for murder, life for burglary, twenty-five years for robbery, and twenty-five years for arson. The sentences for armed robbery and arson were run consecutive to the life term for murder. The sentence of life for burglary ran concurrent to the murder sentence. R. 111; R. 114 – 117.

Michael's co-defendant, Hao Qing Zhan, was similarly charged and was sentenced following entry of a guilty plea. R. 99, ll. 5-6. According to the solicitor's recitation of the facts at Michael's plea hearing, Michael worked as a cashier in the Chinese food restaurant owned by Zhan's parents. Though Michael admitted his participation in the crimes, the evidence indicated that it was Zhan who instigated the criminal conduct. R. 72, ll. 18-23; R. 89, l. 16 – 92, l. 8. Both boys provided written confessions. R. 89, ll. 11-14; R. 92, ll. 21-22.

Michael's subsequent post-conviction relief action was unsuccessful. Michael Finley v. State, 1995-CP-23-03705. Following our Supreme Court's decision in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Michael filed a *pro se* motion for resentencing on March 17, 2016.

R. 1. By Order filed March 23, 2016, the Supreme Court vested the Honorable Edward W. Miller with exclusive jurisdiction over Michael's Motion for Resentencing. R. 9. The Greenville County Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent Michael. R. 11. On June 21, 2016, the State filed a Reply to the Motion for Resentencing. R. 12. Following Judge Miller's recusal from the case, the Court reassigned the case to the Hon. R. Scott Sprouse by Order filed June 30, 2016. R. 17.

On October 14, 2016, a hearing was held before Judge Sprouse to determine whether Michael was entitled to a resentencing hearing. Michael was represented by Kenneth Gibson, and the State was represented by assistant solicitor Elizabeth Gary. R. 20. The matter was taken under advisement and the parties were given ten days to supplement the record. R. 36. On October 25, 2016, the State filed a memorandum to supplement to the record with an accompanying affidavit from Matthew Buchanan, General Counsel to the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. R. 39. On November 28, 2016, Judge Sprouse issued a written order denying the motion for resentencing. R. 47.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court erred in finding that Appellant's parole eligibility after the service of thirty years incarceration rendered him ineligible for resentencing, where the principles of Graham, Miller, and Aiken are more broadly applicable to de facto life without parole sentences that do not provide a *meaningful* opportunity for release.

Introduction

Michael Finley was born on March 11, 1973, and seventeen years old at the time of the instant offenses. When he pled guilty in 1993, the only possible sentences for murder were death, life with parole eligibility after thirty years (if the death penalty was sought and an aggravating circumstance was found beyond a reasonable doubt, but a recommendation of death was not made), or life with parole eligibility after twenty years.¹ S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 (1992). The statute for first degree burglary also called for a mandatory life sentence absent a jury recommendation for mercy. Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 336 n. 1, 503 S.E.2d 164, 165 n. 1 (1998). Despite his lack of any criminal record, Michael's life sentences were mandatory, such that the sentencing judge had no discretion and was required to impose the same sentence on Michael as he would for even the most heinous adult offender who pled guilty to murder and burglary after being served a death notice. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 (1992).

As will be discussed more fully *infra*, the failure to differentiate between juvenile and adult offenders at the original sentencing hearing renders the mandatorily imposed sentence upon

¹ S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 was amended, effective January 1, 1996, to remove parole eligibility and provide for three sentencing alternatives: death, life without parole, or thirty years without parole. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 (1996). Subsequent amendments have maintained parole ineligibility following a murder conviction, though the possible sentences are now death or a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for thirty years to life. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 (2002); S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 (2010). The statute has never provided for any differentiation in sentencing between adult and juvenile offenders.

Michael unconstitutional. Michael's parole eligibility after service of thirty years does not cure the unconstitutionality of his sentence because it does not provide him with a meaningful opportunity for release since Michael is not provided appointed counsel to assist him at the hearing and the factors considered by the South Carolina Board of Pardons and Paroles do not include the mitigating hallmark features of youth. See Diatchenko & Roberio v. Dist. Attorney for Suffolk Dist., 27 N.E.3d 349, 360-64 (Mass. 2015) (holding that in order to be a meaningful opportunity for release, juvenile offenders must be afforded counsel at their initial parole hearing); Hayden v. Keller, 134 F.Supp.3d 1000 (E.D.N.C. 2015) (holding that the North Carolina parole process, which treats every adult and juvenile offender the same, violated the Eighth Amendment); Atwell v. State, 197 So.3d 1040 (Fla. 2016) (remanding for resentencing after holding that a life with parole sentence imposed on juvenile violated the Eighth Amendment because the Florida parole process "fails to take into account the offender's juvenile status at the time of the offense, and effectively forces juvenile offenders to serve disproportionate sentences of the kind forbidden by Miller"); Maryland Restorative Justice Initiative v. Hogan, 2017 WL 467731 (D. Md. Feb. 3, 2017) (rejecting argument that Graham, Miller, and Montgomery² were not applicable because plaintiffs did not receive sentences of life without parole).

In denying Michael's motion for resentencing, Judge Sprouse let stand the unconstitutional, mandatory life with parole sentence imposed upon Michael in 1993 – an anathema to Graham³ and Miller⁴, which require that juveniles receive individualized sentencing with consideration of the hallmark features of youth. The only way to provide Michael with a

² Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016).

³ Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).

⁴ Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012).

constitutional sentence is to allow him resentencing where the court can fully explore the factors annunciated in Miller and Aiken⁵ and where a different sentence is possible.

Relevant Facts

In his *pro se* motion for resentencing, Michael argued that at the time of the crimes, he was a juvenile who lacked the maturity of an adult, had an underdeveloped sense of responsibility, and was vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures. He averred that he still had an evolving character and personality traits. Michael further argued that as a juvenile, he was unable to effectively deal or assist in dealing with the prosecution or negotiating a plea agreement. R. 1. Though Miller and Aiken subsequently held that youth “has a constitutional dimension when determining the appropriateness of a lifetime of incarceration,” at the time of Michael’s sentence, youth was merely “a chronological fact.” Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 542, 765 S.E.2d 572, 576; R. 1. Thus, Michael averred that the imposition of the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentences upon him constituted cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment such that he was entitled to resentencing. R. 1.

The State filed a reply, initially arguing that Michael’s motion was untimely. R. 12. There was no discussion of the timeliness of Michael’s motion for resentencing at the eventual hearing or in the order denying resentencing. Though our Supreme Court’s decision in Aiken was filed on November 12, 2014, the Court granted the State’s motion to stay relief pending resolution of its petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. The Order denying certiorari was filed on June 1, 2015. Byars v. Aiken, 135 S.Ct. 2379 (2015). On July 23, 2015, our Supreme Court issued an Order lifting the stay and providing that “the Petitioners

⁵ Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014).

and any other individuals affected by the holding in *Aiken* may file a motion for resentencing *within one year of the date of this order* in the court of general sessions where he or she was originally sentenced.” *Aiken v. Byars*, S.C. Sup. Ct. Order dated July 23, 2015 (emphasis in original). Thus, Michael’s motion for resentencing was timely filed on March 17, 2016. R. 1.

The State’s reply further argued that Michael was not eligible for resentencing because *Miller* and *Aiken* apply only to offenders serving a “life without parole” sentence and not to an offender like Michael who is eligible for parole after service of thirty years incarceration. The State further pointed to the Supreme Court’s statement in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016), that “[a] State may remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile homicide offerender to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing” in support of its contention that parole eligibility removed Michael from the ambit of offenders eligible for resentencing. R. 13 – 16.

At the October 14, 2016 hearing before Judge Couch, defense counsel for Michael argued that Michael’s consecutive sentences for life and twenty-five years constitute a de facto life sentence such that he was eligible for resentencing. Counsel argued that the *Montgomery* Court’s statement regarding the potential to remedy a *Miller* violation with parole eligibility was *dicta* and not fully litigated or controlling. Despite Michael’s future parole eligibility in 2022, counsel noted that he would be without an attorney to represent him and unable to present the mitigating evidence necessary to constitute a meaningful opportunity for parole on his own. R. 22, 1. 4 – 24, 1. 20. Consequently, he argued that the mere eligibility for parole is not enough to comply with *Miller*, but rather that there must be a meaningful opportunity for release through the parole process. R. 34, 1. 8 – 35, 1. 9. Counsel noted that Michael had participated in virtually

every class available to him and had not incurred a single a disciplinary infraction in twenty-four years. R. 24, ll. 10-13.

The solicitor reiterated the State's position that Michael is not among the class of offenders to whom Aiken afforded resentencing because he did not receive a "life without parole" sentence. She argued that offenders sentenced to life without parole were entitled to present the mitigating evidence to the sentencing judge because their sentences precluded any future opportunity to present such evidence. However, in Michael's case, she averred that his parole eligibility would give him a "second meaningful opportunity [for release] other than the first chance that he had at his sentencing hearing." R. 29, ll. 10-15. Further, even if Michael did not have that opportunity at the outset during his original sentencing hearing, she maintained that he would have a meaningful opportunity for release before the parole board. R. 25, l. 24 – 28, l. 6; R. 29, ll. 9-15. The solicitor again pointed to Montgomery, arguing that "parole eligibility . . . remedies these Miller violations because that provides this meaningful opportunity to obtain release that they're so concerned with." R. 28, ll. 12-16; R. 29, l. 16 – 30, l. 4. She argued that cases finding that a lengthy term of years sentences constituted a de facto life sentence requiring resentencing were distinguishable because there was a lack of parole eligibility. She suggested that Miller requires only a meaningful opportunity for release, regardless of what the outcome of that opportunity may be. R. 31, l. 12 – 34, l. 3.

Regarding the right to counsel at a parole hearing, the solicitor audaciously claimed that she had been informed in response to an inquiry following another case "that all they [potential parolees] have to do is request counsel at that hearing and counsel will be provided for them." R. 28, ll. 17-24. She acknowledged that the assistance of "a trained, licensed attorney who can

help present this mitigating evidence to th[e] parole board” makes the opportunity to obtain release “more meaningful.” R. 29, ll. 3-8.

Another matter raised at the hearing was whether, even if technically eligible for parole, the Board would be unable to grant Michael parole due to his consecutive sentencing. R. 25, ll. 9-19; R. 30, l. 13 – 31, l. 8. The solicitor averred, based upon her discussions with the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, that the consecutive nature of Michael’s sentence would not affect his parole eligibility or prevent the grant of parole. R. 28, ll. 7-16; R. 30, ll. 5-12. Judge Sprouse gave both parties ten days to research and supplement the record regarding whether there was any statute or policy related to consecutive sentencing that would prevent parole. R. 35, l. 10 – 36, l. 25. On October 25, 2016, the State filed a memorandum to supplement to the record with an accompanying affidavit from Matthew Buchanan, General Counsel to the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. The affidavit specified that Michael’s consecutive sentencing would neither render him ineligible for parole nor operate to bar release in the event that the Board granted him parole. R. 39. The affidavit did not specify what consideration the consecutive nature of Michael’s sentences may be given by the Board in reaching its decision on whether to grant parole.

In the order denying resentencing, Judge Sprouse ruled:

Finley’s life sentence with the possibility of parole after the service of 30 years does not amount to a de facto life sentence and is not the type of sentence addressed under Miller or Aiken. Both cases are unequivocal in that the remedy they provide is only available to juveniles sentenced to life **without the possibility of parole** for homicide. Miller, 132 S.Ct.at 2460, 183 L.Ed.2d at 414; Aiken, 410 S.C. at 536, 765 S.E.2d at 573 (emphasis added). These cases rest on the principle that life without the possibility of parole is the harshest of all penalties for a juvenile offender. A sentencing court must provide a juvenile who is sentenced to life without the possibility of parole the meaningful opportunity to obtain release through the presentation of specialized, mitigating evidence prior

to sentencing because they will not have another opportunity to present such evidence. For those who will become parole eligible, there are multiple opportunities to obtain release- prior to sentencing and every time they appear before the Parole Board.

R. 48 – 49. Judge Sprouse found that “South Carolina Code subsection §16-3-20 (Supp. 1990), the statute under which Michael was sentenced, provided parole eligibility after the service of 30 years in prison” such that Michael will be parole eligible on August 11, 2022. R. 49. “At that time, he will be given the opportunity to appear before the Parole Board, which will determine whether he remains incarcerated or is released on parole.” R. 49 Thus, he reasoned that Michael would “be able to apprise himself of the opportunity to obtain release beginning in 2022” and noted that “[s]hould his request for parole be denied, Finley will have additional opportunities to present his case to the Board in the future.” R. 49.

Discussion

A. The Eighth Amendment’s ban against cruel and unusual punishment provides additional protections for juvenile offenders.

Following our Supreme Court’s decision in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Michael filed a motion for resentencing. He argued that his life with parole sentences were the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence such that they could not be lawfully imposed without consideration of the “hallmark features of youth.” R. 1. In order to fully appreciate the issue raised in this appeal, a brief understanding of the development of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence is necessary.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, applicable to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment, provides: “Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.” U.S. Const. amend VIII; U.S. Const. amend XIV; see also S.C. Const. art. I, § 15. The United States Supreme Court has found that

because the words of the Eighth Amendment are not precise and their scope is not static, it “must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.” Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958).

Because the scheme under which Michael was sentenced was mandatory in nature, the original sentencing judge gave no consideration to any mitigating evidence. Rather, Michael was sentenced just as any other juvenile or adult offender, with no individualization. R. 74, l. 20 – 8; l. 20; R. 78, ll. 3-19; R. 93, l. 4 – 94, l. 8; R. 111, ll. 2-22. The constitutional requirement for individualized consideration of mitigating and extenuating circumstances at sentencing began with American death penalty jurisprudence. In Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), the United States Supreme Court invalidated all then-existing death penalty statutes, finding that they allowed for the arbitrary and capricious imposition of capital punishment. The Supreme Court struck down subsequent attempts by states to cure the defect through mandatory death penalty statutes, holding that “the fundamental respect for humanity underlying the Eighth Amendment, requires consideration of the character and record of the individual offender and the circumstances of the particular offense as a constitutionally indispensable part of the process of inflicting the penalty of death.” Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 304 (1976); see also Roberts v. Louisiana, 428 U.S. 325 (1976); State v. Rumsey, 267 S.C. 236, 226 S.E.2d 894 (1976). However, the Court upheld Georgia’s bifurcated scheme that separated the guilt and penalty phases of a capital trial because the jury’s discretion was “controlled by clear and objective standards so as to produce non-discriminatory application.” Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 197-98 (1976). Of particular importance was the jury’s consideration of mitigating evidence and extenuating circumstances. Id. Further, one of ten specific statutory aggravating circumstances had to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt and designated in writing before a

death sentence could be imposed. Id. Before the state supreme court could affirm the death sentence, it had to consider whether the death sentence was the result of passion, prejudice, or other arbitrary factors, and conduct a proportionality review to determine whether it is disproportionate to the punishment usually imposed in similar cases. Id. at 204-06.

In the ensuing years, the Supreme Court imposed several categorical bans on sentencing practices based on mismatches between the culpability of a class of offenders and the severity of a penalty, reflecting its continued concern with proportionate punishment under the Eighth Amendment. In Thompson v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815 (1988), a plurality of the Court prohibited the imposition of the death penalty upon a juvenile offender who was under the age of sixteen at the time of the offense. Later, the Court banned the imposition of the death penalty upon mentally retarded defendants in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), and upon offenders who commit non-homicide crimes in Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008).

Roper v. Simmons

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