ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Greenville County
R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL JAY FINLEY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-002480

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in ruling appellant is not entitled to resentencing as appellant received a life *with* parole sentence and will be eligible for release in 2022, and the court properly found the law only applies to juvenile homicide offenders previously sentenced to life *without* parole and has not been extended to any other sentence. Further, appellant's sentence is the remedy deemed sufficient by the United States Supreme Court to cure an unconstitutional sentence.

Appellant is not entitled to resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), as he received a life *with* parole sentence and will be eligible for release beginning in 2022. Concerns about the future of the parole process do not create a cognizable claim under *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and its progeny. By their plain language *Miller* and *Aiken* apply only to juvenile homicide offenders sentenced to life *without* parole and appellant is not part of that class.

Neither our courts nor the United States Supreme Court have extended the *Miller* rule to apply to any other type of sentence, or so broadly construed the rule to include the argument made by appellant that his aggregate sentence for homicide and non-homicide crimes amounts to a *de facto* life without parole sentence. Appellant received the sentence the Supreme Court deemed sufficient to remedy an unconstitutional sentence pursuant to *Miller* and is eligible for release. The sentencing scheme in *Miller* was unconstitutional because it denied juveniles convicted of murder all possibility of parole, leaving them no opportunity or incentive for rehabilitation. Life in prison *with* the possibility for parole allows juvenile offenders to prove they have changed while also assessing a punishment the legislature deemed appropriate in light of the fact the juvenile killed someone. Appellant has the opportunity in just over four years to demonstrate his rehabilitation when he goes before the parole board, in keeping with the "central intuition" of *Miller* that juveniles who commit even violent crimes are capable of change.

Accordingly, appellant's sentence of life *with* parole is not cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment, and the trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion for resentencing.

Guilty Plea Hearing

Appellant pled guilty to murder, first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and arson on February 25, 1993, before the Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr. (R.pp.57-64; p.68; p.74, lines 20-25; p.77, lines 13-16; p.78, lines 1-2). Prior to accepting the plea, Judge Pyle told appellant to stop him any time he did not understand the proceeding or any time he wanted speak to defense counsel. (R.p.71, line 23-p.72, line 9).

Judge Pyle explained the rights appellant was giving up by pleading guilty, asked appellant repeatedly if he understood what those rights meant, and discussed the potential sentences appellant faced by pleading guilty. (R.p.74, line 14-p.78, line 2). In exchange for appellant's plea, the State agreed to withdraw the notice of intent to seek the death penalty with the added negotiation that appellant would not be eligible for parole for thirty years. (R.p.65; p.78, lines 7-13). Appellant stated repeatedly he understood the negotiations and his parole eligibility. (R.p.78, line 14-p.80, line 6).

The State told the plea judge briefly the facts of the case. Appellant admitted to investigators he and a co-defendant killed eighty-year-old James Brockman in his home on May 6, 1990. (R.pp.57-64; p.83, line 17-p.84, line 1; p.88, line 2-p.89, line 4). Firefighters discovered the victim's body after witnesses called 911 about a house fire. (R.p.84, line 18-p.85, line 2). The victim was in a bedroom, lying back on a bed, with his legs and feet dangling over the edge. (R.p.85, lines 2-10). His hands were tied behind his back and his feet were bound together. (R.p.85, lines 10-12). The victim's head was covered with a pillowcase, there was a

men's tie around his neck, and blood on the pillowcase. (R.p.85, lines 12-15). Investigators found pieces of a broken shotgun near the victim's body, and his home had been ransacked, numerous items taken, and his car stolen. (R.p.85, lines 15-24). Further, two "pour patterns" of gasoline were found in the home—one leading from the bedroom where the victim was found and another in the living room. (R.p.85, line 24-p.86, line 11).

An autopsy revealed James Brockman suffered "extreme" injuries to his head, first and second-degree burns to his legs, and his larynx was broken in two places. (R.p.86, lines 12-20). The victim died from strangulation. (R.p.86, lines 18-21). However, the autopsy revealed the victim did not die quickly. An elevated carbon level in his blood indicated James Brockman was alive and breathing during part of the fire. (R.p.86, lines 20-24).

After the murder, appellant was seen driving the victim's stolen car and tried to sell some of the victim's belongings to his uncle. (R.p.86, line 25-p.87, line 9). A friend of appellant's family called investigators and when they arrived to talk to appellant, he said, "I know what you need to talk to me about." (R.p.87, lines 9-18). Appellant admitted his involvement in the crime in a written statement to investigators. (R.p.88, line 2-p.89, line 4). Appellant said he and his co-defendant needed money, so the co-defendant talked about going to Greenville and "killing an old man." (R.p.89, lines 11-21). The two put gas in an extra can, changed clothes, and got items to cover their hands. (R.p.89, line 21-p.90, line 1). However, it was too early to go to the victim's house, so appellant and his co-defendant played miniature golf and waited until it was dark before driving over to James Brockman's house. (R.p.90, lines 4-8). The accomplices parked the car down the street and walked to the victim's home, knocked, pretended they had car trouble, and asked to use the phone to call for help. (R.p.90, lines 8-14). Appellant and his co-defendant pulled out a gun and robbed the victim, and one of them stayed with the victim in the

bedroom, pointing a gun at him, while the other ransacked the house. (R.p.90, line 21-p.91, line 7). Appellant and his co-defendant took jewelry, money, and other items. (R.p.91, lines 7-12). Then appellant tied the victim up, they stuck a handkerchief in his mouth, put a pillowcase over his head and a tie around his neck, "and with one defendant on one side and one defendant on the other side, they strangled Mr. Brockman." (R.p.91, lines 12-24). The co-defendant beat the victim with a shotgun "to make sure he was dead," and appellant poured gas on the floor. (R.p.91, line 25-p.92, line 10). Appellant then went outside to the victim's car while his co-defendant set the fire. (R.p.92, lines 10-12).

At trial, the State was prepared to present evidence of appellant's written statement. (R.p.88, line 2-p.89, line 9). Further, investigators recovered the victim's car, and found some of the victim's jewelry during a search of the house where appellant was staying. (R.p.87, lines 13-14, p.92, lines 13-18). Appellant also showed investigators the lake where he and his co-defendant threw some of the victim's belongings because they were worried about fingerprints. (R.p.92, line 21-p.93, line 1). In addition, the co-defendant gave a written statement, and the gun and gas can were found at his home. (R.p.92, lines 18-21).

Following the State's recitation, Judge Pyle asked appellant if that was what happened and appellant replied, "Yes, sir." (R.p.93, lines 9-12). The judge reminded appellant about his parole eligibility, and appellant again acknowledged repeatedly he understood he would not be eligible for release for thirty years. (R.p.93, line 13-p.94, line 8). Judge Pyle found appellant's plea was voluntarily and knowingly entered, and deferred sentencing. (R.p.94, lines 12-21).

Judge Pyle held the sentencing hearing on April 22, 1993. (R.p.97). Prior to sentencing, several people spoke on appellant's behalf, in an effort to give the judge a better idea of appellant's social history and personality. Appellant lived with Terry Dempsey (Dempsey) and

her family while out on bond pending trial. (R.p.99, line 16-p.100, line 10). Dempsey explained she met appellant through her daughter's school and the chorus at Dorman High School and she "always admired his talent and stage presence." (R.p.100, lines 16-18). Dempsey explained appellant was "a warm and gentle young man who longs for affection and for respect. He's an individual who has great value which needs to be recognized." (R.p.100, lines 13-16). During her family's time getting to know appellant, Dempsey said she "began to see that he was a very insecure boy whose greatest wish was to be accepted for himself and to be loved unconditionally." (R.p.100, line 19-p.102, line 7). Dempsey explained appellant was helpful around the house, trustworthy, never tried to run away, and helped her during difficult times with good advice "from one who was so young." (R.p.102, line 18-p.103, line 4; p.104, lines 2-8). Further, appellant was "intelligent, creative, and resourceful. His thirst for knowledge was strong. He read as many books as he could get a hold of on any subject that he could." (R.p.103, lines 5-8).

Finally, Dempsey explained some of the changes she noticed in appellant during the fifteen months he lived with her family:

[Appellant] came to us kind of hyperactive. He left us a much calmer person. He came insecure and I think left more secure with himself and who he is. He was impulsive when he came; now he is more reflective and thinks about what his actions are going to cause.

(R.p.104, lines 9-15). Dempsey stated appellant was ready to "pay his penalty, but his life is still valuable, and I think that some good can result from it." (R.p.104, lines 16-20).

A minister also spoke and told the court appellant had become a valuable part of his congregation, and was missed. (R.p.104, line 24-p.105, line 17). Michael McGee (McGee) stated he saw a person who made a mistake, who never tried to make excuses, but was humble

and genuine. (R.p.105, lines 23-25). McGee said he did not understand what happened before he knew appellant because "if you lined up fifty people and told me that one of them had done what he had done, then he would probably be the last one that I would have picked out knowing what I know about him now." (R.p.106, lines 1-7). McGee said his church's prayers were with appellant every day. (R.p.106, lines 8-10).

Defense counsel reminded the court about appellant's cooperation throughout the investigation "in light of the potential alternatives that [the judge] has with regard to sentencing." (R.p.107, lines 4-14). Counsel stated appellant had never tried to "shirk his responsibility," knew he would have to "stand before a court," and was prepared to cooperate in the prosecution of his co-defendant, if that had been necessary. (R.p.107, lines 15-22). Counsel said it was his belief that merited some consideration for appellant during sentencing, as did the fact that he did not violate any condition of his bond. (R.p.107, lines 23-24; p.108, lines 6-18).

Appellant expressed remorse for the crime, apologized to the victim's family, and said he hoped the victim's family could forgive him one day or that he could forgive himself. (R.p.110, line 16-p.111, line 1).

Judge Pyle found beyond a reasonable doubt appellant committed the murder during the commission of first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and arson. (R.p.111, lines 12-15). The judge sentenced appellant to life *with* the possibility of parole for murder, a concurrent term of life for burglary, and a consecutive twenty-five years for armed robbery and arson. (R.p.111, lines 15-22). Accordingly, appellant will become eligible for parole on August 11, 2022. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A) (Supp. 1990) (providing the punishment for murder is death or life imprisonment, and if sentenced to life, the person is eligible for parole only after the service of twenty years, or thirty years if a recommendation of death is not made but a statutory

aggravating circumstance is found beyond a reasonable doubt).

Motion for Resentencing and State's Response

On March 17, 2016, appellant moved for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), and submitted a *pro se* motion. (R.pp.1-7). In his motion, appellant asserted he was vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures, including family and peers, and had an underdeveloped sense of responsibility and lacked the maturity of an adult. (R.p.3). Further, appellant argued at the time of his crimes, youth was only a chronological fact and a plea for mercy and he was entitled resentencing. (R.pp.3-4).

The State responded and argued *Aiken* did not apply because appellant was not sentenced to life without the possibility of parole.¹ (R.pp.14-15). The State maintained appellant was eligible for parole, and had multiple future opportunities to present mitigating evidence in the hopes of obtaining release. (R.pp.14-16). The State asserted the clear rule from *Miller* and *Aiken* was that sentencing a juvenile to life without the possibility of parole without first holding an individualized hearing at which a judge considered the unique attributes of youth violated the Eighth Amendment, and only those juveniles were entitled to resentencing. (R.p.14). The State argued to hold *Aiken* applied to *any* type of life sentence impermissibly extended the rule. (R.p.14). Finally, the State maintained the parole board was a sentencing authority which could assess appellant's case when he became eligible for release in 2022. (R.pp.15-16).

Hearing on *Aiken* Motion

A hearing on appellant's motion was held on October 14, 2016, before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. (R.p.20). Defense counsel argued appellant was entitled to resentencing because:

¹ The State also made an argument regarding the timeliness of appellant's motion. (R.p.12). However, there was no subsequent discussion on the assertion at the hearing or in the order denying resentencing.

(1) the aggregate term appellant received for homicide and non-homicide crimes created a *de facto* life without parole sentence, and (2) parole eligibility did not create a "meaningful opportunity" for release. (R.p.22, line 4-p.24, line 3; p.34, line 22-p.35, line 9). Specifically, counsel asserted appellant "would be placed in a situation where he would be arguing for parole without counsel" and would not have a "meaningful opportunity" to explain to the parole board the "great things" appellant had done while incarcerated, such as attend classes or his lack of a disciplinary record. (R.p.24, lines 4-13). Counsel maintained parole eligibility was not enough for a sentence to comply with *Miller* or *Aiken*. (R.p.24, lines 14-20).

The State argued appellant was not entitled to resentencing because he did not receive a life *without* the possibility of parole sentence, but received a life *with* the possibility of parole sentence. (R.p.26, lines 4-18). The State maintained the sentencing implications noted in *Aiken* were not at issue in appellant's case because he had the opportunity to obtain release. (R.p.26, line 19-p.28, line 6). The State asserted the United States Supreme Court noted a remedy for an unconstitutional sentence was the same one appellant received, which was to convert the sentence to life with parole. (R.p.28, lines 7-16). The State maintained offenders were never guaranteed release, but appellant had the opportunity at future parole hearings to present to the parole board evidence that he was rehabilitated and had matured which was the relief contemplated by *Miller* and *Aiken*. (R.p.29, line 9-p.30, line 4). The State reiterated its position that appellant was already guaranteed relief from what *Aiken* contemplated as cruel and unusual punishment for juveniles—he had the opportunity for release in 2022. (R.p.33, line 2-p.34, line 3).

Finally, an issue raised at the hearing was whether appellant's consecutive sentences would prevent him from obtaining release. (R.p.25, lines 9-19; p.30, line 5-p.31, line 8). The

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